IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO.: 2009-TS-00161

MARTIN L. PIERCE

VERSUS

STAR PIERCE

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of records certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of

this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. Martin L. Pierce, Appellant
- 2. Star Pierce, Appellee
- Wendy Hollingsworth, Attorney for Appellant Law Offices of Wendy Hollingsworth PLLC 2900 Government Street, Suite D Ocean Springs, MS 39564
- 4. William E. Tisdale, Attorney for Appellee Sekul Hornsby & Tisdale
 958 Howard Avenue

V. Statement of the Case
A. Nature of the Case, Proceedings and Disposition
B. Statement of the Facts
VI. Summary of the Argument
VII. Argument
A. The court erred in its division of marital assets and liabilities.
B. The chancellor erred in awarding Star Pierce periodic alimony.
C. The chancellor erred in awarding Star use and possession of the marital home, with Martin Pierce paying the note, taxes and insurance thereon in the approximate amount of \$700.00 per month, until Star remarries or until her 11-year-old child from a previous relationship graduates from high school.
VIII. Conclusion
IX. Certificate of Filing and Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

STATE CASES

.

ء ۱

Alex v. Tarver, 879 So. 2d 1078 (¶7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)
Armstrong v. Armstrong, 618 So. 2d 1278 (Miss. 1993)
Brendel v. Brendel, 566 So. 2d 1269 (Miss. 1990)
Brooks v. Brooks, 652 So. 2d 1113 (Miss. 1995)
Burcham v. Burcham, 869 So. 2d 1225 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)
Burnham-Steptoe v. Steptoe, 755 So. 2d 1225 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)
Cherry v. Cherry, 593 So. 2d 19 (Miss. 1991)
Cosentino v. Cosentino, 912 So. 2d 1130 (Miss. 2005)
Crowe v. Crowe, 641 So. 2d 1100 (Miss. 1994)11
Drumright v. Drumright, 812 So. 2d 1021 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)
Duncan v. Duncan, 815 So. 2d 480 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)
Ericson v. Tullos, 876, So. 2d 1038 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)
Fogarty v. Fogarty, 922 So. 2d 836 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)
Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So. 2d (921 Miss. 1994) passim
Hankins v. Hankins, 866 So. 2d 508 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)
Holleman v. Holleman, 527 So. 2d 90 (Miss. 1988)12
Hubbard v. Hubbard, 656 So. 2d 124 (Miss. 1995)
In re Marriage of Smith, 56 Cal. Rptr. 3d (Cal. Ct. App. 2007)
Johnson v. Johnson, 650 So. 2d 1281 (Miss. 1994)
Jundoosing v. Jundoosing, 826 So. 2d 85 (¶ 10) (Miss. 2002)
LaRue v. LaRue, 172 W.Va. 158, 304 S.E.2d 312 (1983)

Massey v. Massey, 475 So. 2d 802 (Miss. 1985)
McEachern v. McEachern, 605 So. 2d 809 (Miss. 1992) 12
Thompson v. Thompson, 894 So. 2d 607 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)
<i>Tilley v. Tilley</i> , 610 So. 2d 348 (Miss. 1992)
Voda v. Voda, 731 So. 2d 1158 (¶ 8) (Miss. 1999)20
Wells v. Wells, 800 So. 2d 1239 (¶ 8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)
Williams v. Williams, No. 2007-CA-01736-COA (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) 10
Wood v. Wood, 495 So. 2d 503 (Miss. 1986)
STATE STATUTES
Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-23 (Supp. 1989)
BOOKS
Deborah H. Bell, Bell on Mississippi Family Law, § 9.04[5][a]15
Deborah H. Bell, Bell on Mississippi Family Law, § 13.01[3][b]16, 17, 21
FEDERAL STATUTES
10 U.S.C. § 1447-1455
10 U.S.C. § 1448 (b) (2), (3)
10 U.S.C. § 1450 (a)
10 U.S.C. § 1450 (f) (4)
10 U.S.C. § 1451 11
10 U.S.C. § 1452
I.R.C. § 152(e)(1) (Law. Co-op. 2005) 16, 17, 21

i.

•

2

ï

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. The court erred in its division of marital assets and liabilities.
- B. The chancellor erred in awarding Star Pierce periodic alimony.
- C. The chancellor erred in awarding Star use and possession of the marital home, with Martin Pierce paying the note, taxes and insurance thereon in the approximate amount of \$700.00 per month, until Star remarries or until her 11-year-old child from a previous relationship graduates from high school.

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u> (Nature of the Case, Proceedings and Disposition)

On July 24, 2007, Martin Pierce obtained a divorce from Star Pierce in the State of Washington, where he was stationed as a member of the United States Air Force. (TR—5) (EX—1, 2). At the time of the divorce, the parties had been married for six years and had no children together. (TR—6). Of those six years, the parties lived together less than three years. (TR—55) (RE—0014). Because the Washington court lacked personal jurisdiction over Star Pierce, it made no provision for the disposition of property. (EX—2, p.8). On January 11, 2008, Martin Pierce filed a Complaint to Adjudicate Real and Personal Property Rights and for Eviction of Defendant in the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Second Judicial District. (CP—1). His Complaint essentially sought an equitable distribution of the assets and liabilities of the parties. On March 6, 2008, Star Pierce filed an Answer and Affirmative Defenses, which also included a Counterclaim, seeking equitable distribution, lump sum and periodic alimony, health insurance, a pro-rata share of military benefits, her former surname and attorneys' fees. (CP—16).

The matter came on for trial before the Honorable Carter O. Bise on September 26, 2008. On December 23, 2008, the court entered its Judgment awarding Star Pierce essentially all relief that she requested and awarding Martin essentially none of the relief that Martin requested. It is from this Judgment that Martin Pierce appeals.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Martin and Star Pierce had a relatively short and childless six year marriage. Of those six years, the parties lived together less than three years. (TR-55) (RE-0014).

At the time of their marriage in October of 2000, Martin, who is an E-6 in the United States Air Force, had already served his country eight months. Martin's first duty assignments after marrying Star were in various locations where he could not take a dependent. (TR—7, 33-34). When Martin was transferred to Fallon, Nevada, Star and her daughter from a prior relationship, Kayla, joined him. (TR—7). However, after two years, Star and Kayla returned to Mississippi because Star was not happy, unable to find work, homesick and was not pleased that the closest medical facility was an hour from base. (TR—8). The parties decided that the cost of buying a home would be equal to or less than rental payments, so they purchased a home in Biloxi in 2004. (TR—10). From the time of the purchase of the home through the present, Martin's income has been used to make all payments on the home, though he never actually lived there. (TR—10-11, 67) (CP—32) (RE—0007).

About a year after Star moved back to Biloxi, Martin was transferred to Jacksonville, Florida for 11 months. (TR—8). Because the military discouraged having dependents while in flight training, Star did not join Martin at that duty station either, but he would make the 500-600 mile drive to Biloxi to visit with Star. (TR—37). Martin was next stationed in Whidbey Island, Washington. Star did not accompany Martin to Washington. (TR—9).

During the course of the marriage, Star made almost no financial contribution to the marriage. (TR—89) (CP—28, 32) (RE—0014). Prior to the marriage, she worked at Burger King and at a day care facility. (TR—90). In 2006, she began working at McDonald's and as a substitute teacher through Kelly Services, a temporary employment agency. Although Star has

Crohn's disease and kidney problems, health issues have not prevented her from working 32 hours a week at McDonald's earning \$8.50 an hour, and substitute teaching three or four days a week earning \$75.00 per day. (TR-65, 67, 101-02). During the course of the marriage, Martin encouraged Star to go to college or obtain some type of special training to increase her income potential, but she refused to do so. (TR-55). Martin testified that Star lacks ambition. (TR-55). According to Star's testimony, her only aspiration of bettering her income potential is to take a course through Kelly Services so that she can earn \$100.00 per day substitute teaching instead of \$75.00. (TR-101). When questioned as to why she did not try to find a better paying job than temporary work through Kelly Services, she simply stated that she liked being a substitute teacher. (TR-101).

While Martin was stationed in Washington, he filed for divorce from Star. Although Star was served with process, she did not appear. During the separation of the parties, Martin paid Star \$1,400.00 per month via deposit into their joint bank account. (TR-13, 113). Between the time of the parties' separation and the trial in Harrison County, Martin paid Star \$24,000.00 or more in temporary support. (TR-54). After the parties were divorced, Star withdrew and spent another \$4,000.00 that was erroneously deposited into the parties' former joint account by the military. (TR-14, 88, 113). At the time of the trial, Star had \$6,500.00 - \$7,000.00 in her savings account, which was money left over from when Star divided the parties' \$20,000.00 savings account 50/50 at the time of the divorce. (TR-91).

Following a trial on the merits, the trial court awarded Star essentially all relief that she requested, the specifics to be detailed herein.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Martin Pierce appeals to this Court on the basis that the chancellor abused his discretion by being unduly generous to Star Pierce when considering the equitable distribution and alimony awards granted unto her. Viewed in their totality, the awards to the wife are excessive to the extent that they demonstrate a manifest abuse of discretion on the part of the chancellor. *Duncan v. Duncan*, 815 So. 2d 480 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Though the parties were married only six years, were childless, and the 32-year-old wife was employed and able to work, the chancellor awarded the wife well over 50% of the marital estate and \$500.00 per month in periodic alimony, together with additional alimony consisting of the cost of the note, taxes and insurance on the former marital home, which was \$700.00 per month as of the time of the trial, until Star remarries or her child from a prior relationship graduates from high school or moves from the home, events which may never occur. By designating the payment of the house note, taxes and insurance as well as alimony, but fixing its termination date on a child-related event, it seems apparent that the chancellor saddled the husband with a child support obligation for a child not of the marriage and called it alimony, which was clearly erroneous and manifestly in error.

It is apparent from a review of the testimony that the wife understated her income on her financial declaration. Using the understated figures that Star provided on her financial declaration, the chancellor awarded Star 40.8% of the alleged disparity between the parties' incomes. This equaled one-third of Martin's monthly net income.

Additionally, when considering the totality of the circumstances, it was error for the chancellor to order Martin to assign unto Star his Survivor Annuity Benefit Plan considering that the parties were married for only six years of Martin's military career and he may only designate one beneficiary, thus prohibiting Martin from being able to designate his present wife or child.

Further, it was error for the chancellor to award Star 65% of Martin's military retirement for those years in which the parties were married.

VII. ARGUMENT

"In domestic relations cases the scope of review is limited by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule." *Jundoosing v. Jundoosing*, 826 So. 2d 85, 88 (¶10) (Miss. 2002). "Our review in domestic relations is limited under the familiar rule that this Court will not disturb a chancellor's findings unless manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or if the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard." *Id.* (quoting *Johnson v. Johnson*, 650 So. 2d 1281, 1285 (Miss. 1994).

A. The court erred in its division of marital assets and liabilities.

In making an equitable distribution of marital assets, chancellors are directed to consider

the factors set forth in Ferguson v. Ferguson.

1. Substantial contribution to the accumulation of the property. Factors to be considered in determining contribution are as follows:

a. Direct or indirect economic contribution to the acquisition of the property;

b. Contribution to the stability and harmony of the marital and family relationships as measured by quality, quantity of time spent on family duties and duration of the marriage; and

c. Contribution to the education, training or other accomplishment bearing on the earning power of the spouse accumulating the assets.

2. The degree to which each spouse has expended, withdrawn or otherwise disposed of marital assets and any prior distribution of such assets by agreement, decree or otherwise;

3. The market value and the emotional value of the assets subject to distribution;

4. The value of assets not ordinarily, absent equitable factors to the contrary, subject to such distribution, such as property brought to the marriage by the parties and property acquired by inheritance or *inter vivos* gift by or to an individual spouse;

5. Tax and other economic consequences, and contractual or legal consequences to third parties, of the proposed distribution;

6. The extent to which property division may, with equity to both parties, be utilized to eliminate periodic payments and other potential sources of future friction between the parties;

7. The needs of the parties for financial security with due regard to the combination of assets, income and earning capacity; and,

8. Any other factor which in equity should be considered.

Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So. 2d 921, 928 (Miss. 1994).

The chancellor divided property, granted awards to Star, and imposed obligations upon

Martin, as follows:

- a. The chancellor granted Star use and possession of the marital home with Martin Pierce paying the note, taxes and insurance thereon in the approximate amount of \$700.00 per month, until Star remarries or until her 11-year-old child from a previous relationship graduates from high school or moves from the home. If and when Star ever vacates the home, it is to be sold with the equity to be equally divided. (RE—0011).
- b. The chancellor awarded 32-year-old Star, and ordered Martin to pay, periodic alimony in the amount of \$500.00 per month until Star's death or remarriage. (RE-0016).
- c. The chancellor awarded Star 65% of Martin's military retirement accumulated during the course of the marriage. (CP-32) (RE-0011).
- d. The chancellor ordered that Martin assign unto Star his military Survivor Annuity Benefit Plan, meaning that should Star outlive Martin, she would receive 55% of his base retirement pay to the exclusion of Martin's dependents. (RE-0011).

- e. The chancellor awarded Star one-half of Martin's military Thrift Savings Plan. (RE-0011).
- f. The chancellor ordering that Martin pay certain credit card debt incurred by Star in the approximate amount of \$3,000.00. (RE-0011).
- g. The chancellor awarded Star the Ford Focus vehicle and ordered her to be responsible for the note and insurance thereon. The note is \$317.76 per month. (EX—6, p.4) (RE— 0011).
- h. The chancellor ordered that Star pay her post-divorce credit card debt. (RE-0011).
- i. The chancellor ordered Martin to pay Star the sum of \$2,000.00 as compensation for her attorney's services. (RE-0017).
- j. Martin sought and was granted only two items of personal property (some Infinity stereo speakers and an automotive fuel injection system, both of which were missing with whereabouts unknown), thus leaving Star to implicitly retain all household goods and furnishings in her possession, which she valued on her financial declaration at \$19,035.00. (EX-6 (see attachment to financial statement, pages 1-5)) (CP-32) (RE-0009).

It is apparent that Star walked away with the vast majority of the marital assets. She retained exclusive use and possession of the home with Martin footing the bill, and if and when the home is ever sold, Martin would be entitled to only 50% of the proceeds from the sale even though he would have paid 100% of the monthly notes, taxes and insurance on the home. (RE-0007, 0011). Star was awarded 65% of Martin's military retirement accumulated during the course of the marriage, his Survivor Benefit Plan in its entirety, half of Martin's Thift Savings Plan, and seemingly all of the household goods and furnishings valued in excess of \$19,000.00,

the value of which was not even considered by the chancellor or mentioned in his opinion. Even though Martin did not request that he be awarded the household goods and furnishings, the value of same to Star should certainly have been taken into consideration during the equitable distribution and alimony analysis.

The chancellor also failed to consider that between the time of the parties' separation and the trial in Harrison County, Martin paid Star \$24,000.00 or more in temporary support. (TR-54). Further, the chancellor failed to consider that after the parties were divorced by the Washington court but prior to the trial in this matter, Star wrongfully withdrew and spent another \$4,000.00 of Martin's post-divorce earnings that were erroneously deposited into the parties' former joint account by the military. (TR-14, 88, 113). Thus, before the chancellor made any award at all unto Star, she had already enjoyed receipt of at least \$28,000.00 from Martin since the separation of the parties, which should have been taken into account in the equitable distribution and alimony analysis, but was not even considered or mentioned by the chancellor in his opinion. See Fogarty v. Fogarty, 922 So. 2d 836 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (considering amount of temporary support paid to wife during equitable distribution and alimony analysis.) All awards to a spouse must be considered together when deciding whether they are equitable and fair. Hubbard v. Hubbard, 656 So. 2d 124, 130 (Miss. 1995) (citing Ferguson, 639 So. 2d at 929). Equitable distribution and alimony are parts of the same issue. Cosentino v. Cosentino, 912 So. 2d 1130 (Miss. 2005) (citing Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So. 2d 921, 929 (Miss. 1994)). Together, they command the entire field of financial settlement of divorce. Id. "Where one expands, the other must recede." Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So. 2d 921, 929 (Miss. 1994) (quoting LaRue v. LaRue, 172 W.Va. 158, 304 S.E.2d 312, 334 (1983) (Neely, J., concurring)).

Inexplicably, the chancellor further ordered Martin to assign Star as the sole beneficiary of his Survivor Benefit Plan. In the recently decided opinion of *Williams v. Williams*, the Court of Appeals quoted *In re Marriage of Smith*, 56 Cal. Rptr. 3d 341 (Cal. Ct. App. 2007), for a useful description of the military's Survivor Benefit Plan. The description from *Smith* reads as follows:

The military retirement scheme does not include a death benefit but military retirees may participate in the [Survivor Benefit Plan] (10 U.S.C. §§ 1447-1455), which provides benefits in the form of an annuity payable to a designated beneficiary upon the death of the retiree[.] (10 U.S.C. § 1450(a)). The cost of participation is withheld from the member's monthly retirement pay. (10 U.S.C. § 1452), . . . An eligible participant may elect to name a former spouse as the [Survivor Benefit Plan] beneficiary. (10 U.S.C. § 1448(b)(2), (3)). And federal law allows state courts to order military service members to participate in the [Survivor Benefit Plan] and to designate a former spouse as beneficiary as part of a dissolution agreement. (10 U.S.C. § 1450(f)(4)).

Williams v. Williams, No. 2007-CA-01736-COA (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (quoting In re Marriage of Smith, 56 Cal. Rptr. 3d 341, 348 (Cal. Ct. App. 2007)).

The chancellor erroneously ordered that Martin assign Star as the sole beneficiary of his Survivor Benefit Plan despite the fact that the parties were married for only six years of Martin's military career, and at the time of trial Martin was remarried and expecting his first child (RE-0015). This was an abuse of discretion and manifestly in error in that, should Star outlive Martin, she will be awarded 55% of Martin's base retirement pay while his present wife and child will be left with no Survivor Benefit Plan income whatsoever. See 10 U.S.C. § 1451. In the next assignments of error, it will be argued that it was error to award 32-year-old Star Pierce periodic alimony after only a six year marriage when she is capable of maintaining gainful employment. Certainly it was error to order Martin to support Star from beyond his grave, thus impeding his ability to care for his dependents at the time of his death. In the Mississippi Supreme Court case of *Crowe v. Crowe*, this court held that it was error for the chancery court to have ordered that the husband to refrain from removing his wife as the recipient of the survivor benefit under his pension absent a finding that the wife had contributed to the accumulation of the asset. *Crowe v. Crowe*, 641 So. 2d 1100 (Miss. 1994) (citing *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So. 2d 921 (Miss. 1994). In the present case, the chancellor specifically found that Martin's military retirement, and thus the Survivor Benefit Plan, was entirely attributable to Martin's efforts. (CP-28) (RE-0007). Thus, pursuant to the holding in *Crowe*, the chancellor committed reversible error by awarding Star the Survivor Benefit Annuity while simultaneously finding that she made no contribution to the acquisition of the asset. *Id.* Certainly Star should not be entitled to receive 55% of Martin's base retirement pay for a six year marriage to the exclusion of his present wife or child. <u>See</u> 10 U.S.C. § 1451.

Further, despite the chancellor's finding that Martin's military retirement was entirely attributable to Martin's efforts, he awarded Star Pierce 65% of Martin Pierce's military retirement accumulated during the marriage. (CP---32) (RE---0011). While Martin concedes that the military retirement accumulated during the marriage is a marital asset subject to equitable distribution, certainly, it does not seem equitable for Star to be awarded a greater share of Martin's military retirement accumulated during the course of the marriage than Martin, particularly considering the generosity of the other awards to Star. The chancellor simply abused his discretion.

B. The chancellor erred in awarding Star Pierce periodic alimony;

and

C. The chancellor erred in awarding Star use and possession of the marital home, with Martin Pierce paying the note, taxes and insurance thereon in the approximate amount of \$700.00 per month, until Star remarries or until her 11-year-old child from a previous relationship graduates from high school. To avoid redundancy, discussion of the last two issues—both involving alimony awards—will be combined.

If after the equitable distribution of the marital property, both parties have been adequately provided for, then an award of alimony is not appropriate. *Johnson v. Johnson*, 650 So. 2d 1281, 1287 (Miss. 1994). Likewise, should the division of marital property leave one of the parties with a deficiency, then consideration of an award of alimony is appropriate. *Id*.

A chancellor has substantial discretion in fashioning relief for equitable distribution and alimony and the appellate court's authority to disturb such an award must be based on the conclusion that the chancellor has abused that broad discretion. *Wells v. Wells*, 800 So. 2d 1239, 1243(\P 8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). The Mississippi Supreme Court has, to some extent, placed some limits on the chancellor's discretion in this field by itemizing a list of factors that the chancellor must consider in determining whether periodic alimony is appropriate and, if so, what amounts are appropriate. *Armstrong v. Armstrong*, 618 So. 2d 1278, 1280 (Miss. 1993).

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