IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

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

VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor did not abuse his discretion in determining the marital assets and providing for a division of same. The marital assets were determined to be the jointly owned residence where Star resided, the automobile that was in Star's possession, Martin's military retirement accrued during the marriage and the availability of survivor annuity benefits from the military retirement. Marital assets are not required to be divided equally.

There was very little, if any, equity in the jointly owned home.

There was a negative equity in the automobile that was in Star's possession and she was paying the auto debt of \$317.00 per month.

Once a division of marital assets was made, Star was not able to provide for herself so that the trial court was able to consider an award of alimony. The Court carefully considered the Armstrong factors in making the determination of the type and amount of alimony awarded. Star was awarded periodic alimony in the form of Martin's payment of the house note, taxes and insurance, (\$656.00 to \$700.00 per month depending on which party's 8.05 financial declaration was being used) and an additional periodic alimony sum of Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00) per month. Star is unable to meet her basic cost needs on a monthly basis for her housing, food, utilities, automobile payment, and prescription

medication necessary because of her kidney problems and Crohn's disease. Upon a designated event, Star's remarriage, her vacating the residence, or Star's daughter finishing high school, the jointly owned marital home is to be sold and the equity, if any, is to be divided. In the event of the death of either party prior to the sale, the joint tenancy with right of survivorship would apply.

As the parties had no children of their marriage there was no child custody issue and no child support was awarded.

Eighty two (82) months of Martin's military retirement was accrued during the marriage prior to Martin obtaining a divorce in Washington on July 24, 2007. Martin initiated the cause of action in Mississippi by the filing of his Complaint on January 11, 2008. Martin voluntarily submitted himself to the personal jurisdiction to the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District. As such, the trial court had jurisdiction to determine what division, if any, was to be made as to Martin's military retirement and jurisdiction to determine if Star was to be designated as beneficiary of the Survivor Annuity Benefit (or Survivor Benefit Plan) of such military retirement. The Court's award of 65% of the length of the marriage, (82 months), will result in Star having approximately 53.3 months as her share of the military retirement. If Martin remains in the military for a twenty year retirement Star's portion would be approximately 22% of the total retirement. Because there was no overlap of ten (10) years of marriage while the retirement was being accrued, there will be no direct payment made from DFAS to Star upon Martin's retirement from active duty.

The military Survivor Benefit Plan makes provision for one (1) beneficiary to be designated. This may be done on a voluntary basis by the service member or the Court having personal jurisdiction may order a spouse, or former spouse, to be the designated beneficiary. 10 U.S.C. §1450(f). The Court did not err in designating Star as the beneficiary of the Survivor Benefit Plan of the military retirement.

Attorney fees were awarded to Star by the Court after consideration of the factors set forth in McKee. Such award is discretionary with the Court and no abuse of discretion was made.

The trial court's ruling, in all aspects of the Judgment filed December 12, 2008, should be affirmed.

VIII. ARGUMENT

Standard of Review: As this Court stated in Magee v. Magee, 661 So.2d 1117 (Miss.1995): Our scope of review in domestic relations matters is limited by our familiar substantial evidence/manifest error rule. Stevison v. Woods, 560 So.2d 176, 180 (Miss.1990). "This Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." Bell v. Parker, 563 So.2d 594, 596-97 (Miss.1990), See also Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss.1994); Faries v. Faries, 607 So.2d 1204, 1208 (Miss. 1992). In other words, "[o]n appeal [we are] required to respect the findings of fact made by a chancellor supported by credible evidence and not manifestly wrong." Newsom v. Newsom, 557 So.2d 511, 514 (Miss.1990). See also Dillon v. Dillon, 498 So.2d 328, 329 (Miss. 1986). This is particularly true in the areas of divorce, alimony and child support. Tilley v. Tilley, 610 So.2d 348, 351 (Miss.1992); Nichols v. Tedder, 547 So.2d 766, 781 (Miss.1989). The word "manifest", as defined in this context, means "unmistakable, clear, plain. indisputable." Black's Law Dictionary 963 (6th ed.1990), Magee v. Magee, 661 So.2d at 1122 (Miss.1995).

Periodic Alimony: The award of periodic alimony arises from the duty of the husband to support his wife. McDonald v. McDonald, 683 So.

2d 929, 931 (Miss.1996). "The husband is required to support his wife in the manner to which she has become accustomed, to the extent of his ability to pay." Brennan v. Brennan, 638 So.2d 1320, 1324 (Miss.1994). In determining the proper amount of alimony, the chancellor should consider the Armstrong factors:

- 1. the income and expenses of the parties;
- 2. the health and earning capacities of the parties;
- 3. the needs of each party;
- 4. the obligations and assets of each party;
- 5. the length of the marriage;
- 6. the presence or absence of minor children in the home;
- 7. the age of the parties;
- 8. the standard of living of the parties, both during the marriage and at the time of the support determination;
- 9. the tax consequences of the spousal support order;
- 10. fault or misconduct;
- 11. wasteful dissipation of assets by either party; or
- 12. any other factor deemed by the court to be "just and equitable" in connection with the setting of spousal support. Armstrong v. Armstrong, 618 So.2d 1278, 1280 (Miss.1993) (citing Hammonds v. Hammonds, 597 So.2d 653, 655 (Miss.1992)).

Alimony awards are within the discretion of the chancellor; this Court will not reverse an award on appeal absent manifest error or abuse of discretion. McEachern v. McEachern, 605 So.2d 809, 815 (Miss.1992); Cherry v. Cherry, 593 So.2d 13, 19 (Miss.1991); Powers v. Powers, 568 So.2d 255, 257-58 (Miss.1990). "In the case of a claimed inadequacy or outright denial of alimony, we will interfere only where the decision is seen as so oppressive, unjust or grossly inadequate as to evidence an abuse of discretion." Armstrong, 618 So.2d at 1280; Smith v. Smith, 607 So.2d 122, 126 (Miss.1992).

In the case at bar the Chancellor made detailed findings as required by Armstrong beginning at page 9 and ending midway on page 13 of the December 23, 2008, Judgment. Each Armstrong factor was considered by the Court and a periodic alimony award of \$500.00 per month was made.

It is within the chancellor's authority to make an equitable division of all jointly acquired real and personal property. Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So.2d 921, 929 (Miss.1994). In making an equitable division of marital property, however, the chancellor is not required to divide the property equally. Love v. Love, 687 So.2d 1229, 1232 (Miss.1997); Trovato v. Trovato, 649 So.2d 815, 817-18 (Miss.1995). Instead,

equitable distribution is governed by the guidelines set out by this Court in Ferguson. These guidelines include:

- (1) economic and domestic contributions by each party to the marriage,
- (2) expenditures and disposal of the marital assets by each party,
- (3) the market value and emotional value of the marital assets,
- (4) the value of the non marital property,
- (5) tax, economic, contractual, and legal consequences of the distribution,
- (6) elimination of alimony and other future frictional contact between the parties,
- (7) the income and earning capacity of each party, and
- (8) any other relevant factor that should be considered in making an equitable distribution." Ferguson, 639 So.2d at 928.

In Watson, the wife (in an eight year marriage) was granted the use of the home to live for six (6) years with the mortgage paid each month by the husband and then half of the proceeds from the sale of the home.

In the case at bar the parties were married for eight (8) years and the trial court granted Star the use of the marital residence for a maximum of seven (7) years (at which time Star's child should have completed high school) at which time the residence would be sold and the proceeds divided. Martin is to pay the house note, taxes and insurance

on the residence as periodic alimony. The payment of periodic alimony provides a tax benefit to Martin as the whole payment, note, taxes and insurance, becomes a deduction to him and taxable income to Star. Additionally, the \$500.00 per month designated by the Court as periodic alimony would also be taxable income to Star and deductible to Martin.

Military Retirement: Title 10, U.S.C.A., Section 1408(c)(1), vests state courts with the power to allocate military retirement pay pursuant to a divorce decree. It provides:(c)(1) Subject to the limitations of this section, a court may treat disposable retired or retainer pay payable to a member for pay periods beginning after June 25, 1981, either as property solely of the member or as property of the member and his spouse in accordance with the law of the jurisdiction of such court." Powers v. Powers, 465 So.2d 1036 (Miss., 1985).

Pierce v. Pierce, 648 So.2d 523(Miss.,1994) provided the following: "A military pension is considered personal property subject to the personal property laws of the forum state, and, in Mississippi, our laws grant chancellors the authority to effect an equitable division of property between spouses after making certain requisite factual findings. This Court has stated that, "[a] spouse's military retirement pension is an asset...." Southern v. Glenn, 568 So.2d 281, 283, n. 1. (Miss.1990). We have also said that, "a former spouse's rights vel non in his or her former

mate's military retirement pension ... is subject to the personal property laws of the states...." Newman v. Newman, 558 So.2d 821, 823 (Miss. 1990).

The Federal Uniformed Services Former Spouses' Protection Act does not "vest" any rights in a spouse, nor does Mississippi law. We have previously commented on this issue, stating that: As we perceive FUSFSPA, it did not vest any rights in anyone. It merely removed a federal bar and allowed the states to treat the military retirement pensions of their domiciliaries as personal property subject to state property laws. Brown v. Brown, 574 So.2d 688, 690-91 (Miss.1990).

Mississippi law has "long recognized that, incident to a divorce, the Chancery Court has authority, where the equities so suggest, to order a fair division of property accumulated through the joint contributions and efforts of the parties." Brown v. Brown, 574 So.2d 688, 690 (Miss. 1990). See Brendel v. Brendel, 566 So.2d 1269, 1273 (Miss.1990); Jones v. Jones, 532 So.2d 574, 580-81 (Miss.1988); Regan v. Regan, 507 So.2d 54, 56 (Miss.1987); Watts v. Watts, 466 So.2d 889, 891 (Miss.1985); Clark v. Clark, 293 So.2d 447, 450 (Miss.1974).

There is a distinction between alimony and retirement benefits. In Brown v. Brown, 574 So.2d 688 (Miss.1990), this Court noted that the Federal Uniformed Services Former Spouses Protection Act, 10 U.S.C. §

1408 (hereinafter FUSFSPA), "allowed the states to treat the military retirement pensions of their domiciliaries as personal property subject to state property laws." Brown, 574 So.2d at 690. In reference to a spouse's equitable right to a share of the other spouse's military retirement pay, this Court reiterated that a chancery court has authority, where equity so demands, to order a fair division of property accumulated through the joint contributions and efforts of the parties. Brown, 574 So. 2d at 690. See also Brendel v. Brendel, 566 So.2d 1269, 1273 (Miss. 1990); Jones v. Jones, 532 So.2d 574, 580-81 (Miss.1988); Regan v. Regan, 507 So.2d 54, 56 (Miss.1987); Watts v. Watts, 466 So.2d 889, 891 (Miss.1985); Clark v. Clark, 293 So.2d 447, 459 (1974).

Survivor Benefit Plan: Federal law allows state courts to order military service members to participate in the Survivor Benefit Plan and to designate a former spouse as beneficiary as part of a dissolution agreement. 10 U.S.C. §1450(f)(4).

Appellant's assertion that it was error for Star to be designated as the beneficiary of the military retirement is misreading Williams v. Williams, No. 2007-CA-01376-COA (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). In Williams the survivor annuity specifically mentioned the husband civil service retirement and did not specifically mention the survivor annuity as concerning the husband's military retirement.

It is discretionary with the Court. The trial court did not abuse its discretion requiring Martin to designate Star as the beneficiary of the military retirement survivor annuity plan.

Attorney's Fees: In Ferguson, this Court provided guidance in this matter: The question of attorney's fees in a divorce action is a matter largely entrusted to the sound discretion of the trial court. Smith v. Smith, 614 So.2d 394, 398 (Miss.1993). "If a party is financially able to pay her attorney, an award of attorney's fees is not appropriate." Martin v. Martin, 566 So.2d 704, 707 (Miss.1990). See also Jones v. Starr, 586 So.2d 788, 792 (Miss.1991) ("Generally, it is true that, unless the party can establish inability to pay, attorney's fees should not be awarded by the court."). The criteria to be utilized in determining attorney's fees are found in McKee v. McKee, 418 So.2d 764, 767 (Miss.1982). Ferguson, 639 So.2d at 937.

This Court is "reluctant to disturb a chancellor's discretionary determination whether or not to award attorney fees and of the amount of [any] award." Geiger v. Geiger, 530 So.2d 185, 187 (Miss.1988).

IX. CONCLUSION

- A. The Court did not err in its division of marital assets and liabilities.
 - B. The Court did not err in awarding Star Pierce periodic alimony.
- C. The Court did not err in awarding Star Pierce use and possession of the marital home and requiring Martin Pierce to pay the house note, taxes and insurance as periodic alimony until such time as Star should remarry or vacates the home or until Star's child should graduate from high school, whichever should occur first.
- D. The Court did not err in the award of attorney fees to Star Pierce.
- E. The ruling of the trial court should be affirmed and additional attorney fees awarded to Star L. Pierce, Appellee, in this cause for costs incurred by her on appeal.